Electronically Filed Dec 10 2021 04:35 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEFFREY REED,	) Supreme Court Case No: 82575
-·	) District Court Case No.: 05D338668
Appellant,	, )
V.	)
	)
ALECIA DRAPER (IND./CONSERV.),	)
	)
Respondent.	)
	)
	)
	)
	•
APPELLANT'S	OPENING BRIEF
***	

# ROBERTS STOFFEL FAMILY LAW GROUP

By: /s/ Amanda M. Roberts, Esq.
Amanda M. Roberts, Esq.
State of Nevada Bar No. 9294
4411 South Pecos Road
Las Vegas, Nevada 89121
PH: (702) 474-7007
FAX: (702) 474-7477
EMAIL: efile@lvfamilylaw.com
Attorneys for Appellant

#### **NRAP § 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an Appeal from a final judgment pursuant to *NRAP* § 3A(b)(1). The Order being appealed is the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order ("Decision") on January 28, 2021, and the Appeal follows.<sup>1</sup> The Appeal from the Decision was timely filed on February 26, 2021.<sup>2</sup> The Appeal follows from a final, appealable Decision which resolved all issues.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to NRAP § 17 (a)(12), Appellant believes this Appeal concerns a principal issue of statewide public importance and this matter should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court. The issues of statewide public importance and first impression include: (1.) whether a request for post-majority child support based upon handicap must be brought before the child reaches the age of majority<sup>3</sup>; and (2.) due to the absence of controlling precedents, what consideration should be given to the timing of filing such a request for post-majority child support based upon handicap, and applicable statutes of limitation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix at Volume XIII, ROA 002393 through ROA002413.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appendix at Volume XIII, ROA 002437 through ROA002439.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appendix at Volume XIII, ROA 002420; and Appendix at Volume IV, ROA 000773, ROA000776 through ROA000778.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- Did the District Court err in not find good cause to extend discovery and continue the Trial?
- 2. Did the District Court err in refusing to allow Jeff the ability to call Emily as a witness during his case in chief?
- 3. Did the District Court err as a matter of law in allowing Emily to raise claims of post-majority support after she reached majority?
- 4. Did the Court err in relying upon a diagnosis of dissociated identity disorder diagnosed after Emily reached the age of majority and graduated from high school to determine Emily was handicapped?
- 5. Did the Court err in determining that Emily is not self-supporting?
- 6. Did the Court erred in granting constructive post-majority child support?

### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

The case is a request by an adult child, who was joined as a Third Party/Emily Reed ("Emily"), for support post-majority pursuant to NRS § 125B.110 based upon an alleged handicap prior to the age of majority against

her Mother, Alecia Draper ("Alecia") and Father, Jeffrey Reed ("Jeff").¹ The original claim was brought by Alecia, but was denied.² Thereafter, Alecia moved to join Emily in the divorce proceeding which was granted.³ The Trial commenced on August 6, 2020; August 7, 2020; November 19, 2020; and January 12, 2021; and rendered its Decision on January 28, 2021, and the Appeal follows.⁴ The Court issued a finding that Emily was handicapped before the age of majority, Ordered that each parent pay \$500.00 in child support, and award post-constructive arrears.⁵

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The Parties were divorced pursuant to a Decree of Divorce filed August 5, 2005.<sup>6</sup>

In 2015, the District Court set an Evidentiary Hearing regarding claims that Emily was handicapped and should receive post-majority support.<sup>7</sup> The District Court adopted the Parties stipulated agreement that on or before February 23, 2015, at 5:00 p.m., Alecia would provide "proof of the minor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0484 through ROA0587.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appendix at Volume III, ROA0511.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appendix at Volume III, ROA0517 through ROA0534; and Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0585 through ROA0587.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appendix at Volume XIII, ROA3037 through ROA3059

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Appendix at Volume XVII, ROA3037 through ROA3059.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Appendix at Volume I, ROA0007 through ROA0027.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Appendix at Volume I, ROA0051 through ROA0053.

child being disabled, meeting the standards required[.]"<sup>8</sup> The Order also included language which stated, "The Therapist's Report will be accepted, in lieu of the therapist appearing at the day of trial."<sup>9</sup> Thereafter, before the Evidentiary Hearing, on March 9, 2015, Alecia filed a "Notice of Withdrawal of Request to Continue Child Support for Emily After High School Graduation Due to Child's Disability & Request to Vacate Evidentiary Hearing." <sup>10</sup>As a result of this document being filed, the Evidentiary Hearing was vacated.

In 2017, this matter came back before the District Court and Alecia again alleged Emily was handicapped and should receive post-majority support, because she was not self-supporting.<sup>11</sup> On May 22, 2018, the District Court issued a Decision and Order which denied Alecia's claim and determined that Emily was the proper Party to bring the issue against her parent.<sup>12</sup> The Court indicated that Emily could file a separate action or be joined in this action.<sup>13</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appendix at Volume I, ROA0057.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Appendix at Volume I, ROA0059.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Appendix at Volume I, ROA0054 through ROA0055.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Appendix at Volume II, ROA0096 through ROA0097.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Appendix at Volume III, ROA0515.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Appendix at Volume III, ROA00515.

On January 22, 2019, Alecia filed a "Notice of Joinder" and a "Motion for Child Support for a Disabled Child Beyond the Age of Majority." After hearing the matter, the District Court joined Emily in this matter. <sup>15</sup>

On December 4, 2019, Alecia provided an expert report from Dr. Love Farrell ("LOVE"). <sup>16</sup> The report relied upon or included review of records that were not provided to Jeff, as of December 4, 2019. <sup>17</sup>

On January 10, 2020, the Court issued an Order Setting Evidentiary Hearing for April 16, 2020, and April 17, 2020. 18 Pursuant to that Order, discovery closed on April 3, 2020. 19

On March 25, 2020, Administrative Order 20-11 was issued, which provided that the stay on discovery previously issued in Administrative Order 20-09, applied to Family Court matters. As it related to Trial, the Administrative Order stated, "Attorneys may have difficulty obtaining witnesses or being prepared for evidentiary proceeds in the period immediately following the duration of the administrative orders related to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Appendix at Volume III, ROA0535, and Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0536 through ROA0549

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0585 through ROA0587.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Appendix at Volume IX, ROA1580 through ROA1598.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Appendix at Volume XV, ROA2776 through ROA2784.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0637 through ROA0638.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0638.

COVID-19. Judges are encouraged to liberally grant continues to allow time for preparation."

On April 2, 2020, some one hundred and twenty (120) days after the LOVE report was provided, Jeff filed a Motion to address Alecia's failure to disclose the medical records which LOVE referenced in her report but which had not yet been disclosed to Jeff.<sup>20</sup> After the Motion was filed, the supplemental medical records were served on Jeff's Counsel.<sup>21</sup> That Motion was set before the Discovery Commissioner on May 8, 2020.<sup>22</sup> Prior to the Motion being heard, on April 24, 2020, the Discovery Commissioner issued a Minute Order which vacated the hearing and indicated the matter would be forwarded to Judge Ritchie "for a determination on how to proceed."<sup>23</sup>

On July 23, 2020, a Pre-Trial Conference was heard. At that time, the issue regarding the Discovery Commissioner was addressed, and the Judge indicated that he had seen the recommendation but would deal with it as the issue arises at Trial.<sup>24</sup> It is then pointed out that the Motion was filed and discovery cut off was April 3, 2020.<sup>25</sup> Despite the argument and a Motion

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Appendix at Volume XV, ROA2776 through ROA2784.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Appendix at Volume XV, ROA2776 through ROA2784.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0655 through ROA0672.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0691 through ROA0692

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0650.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0726

being filed, the Trial continued. The district court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on January 28, 2021.<sup>26</sup> The instant Appeal follows.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

First, Jeff alleges the District Court erred when it denied a timely request for extension of time to conduct discovery and continue the Trial based upon the disclosure of evidence relied upon by an expert on the day before discovery closed. Alternatively, the expert's testimony should have been rendered inadmissible.

Second, Jeff alleges the Court's refusal to allow him to call Emily as a witness impacted his ability to properly present his case and reflected on the outcome of Trial.

Third, Jeff alleges that a request for post-majority support based upon a handicap must be brought prior to the child reaching the age of majority as a matter of public policy.

Fourth, the Court committed reversible error by relying on DID as the handicap as Emily was not diagnosed with DID, according to the medical records and expert testimony, until after the child reached majority.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Appendix at Volume XVIII, ROA3016 through ROA3036.

Moreover, the findings regarding Emily's testimony are not supported by the record and are contradicted by the expert's testimony.

Fifth, the District Court improperly calculated expenses for Emily.

Sixth, the District Court improperly calculated the constructive post-majority child support commencing in July of 2017 when Emily's claim was not brought until January 22, 2019.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# A. The District Court erred in not find good cause to extend discovery and continue the Trial.

On or about May 9, 2017, an initial report was provided by LOVE who was Alecia's proposed expert.<sup>27</sup> In that report, Dr. Love Farrell indicates that Emily needs to work "through her dissociation and conversation symptoms."<sup>28</sup> This is the first report ever provided to Jeff and was not provided until after the deadline provided by the Court of February 23, 2015.<sup>29</sup> LOVE's initial report is silent as to dissociative identity disorder ("DID") or alters. On December 4, 2019, LOVE provided a supplemental report and therein, she indicates that Emily was diagnosed with DID in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Appendix at Volume IX, ROA1555 through ROA1561.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Appendix at Volume IX, ROA1156.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Appendix at Volume I, ROA0057.

August of 2019 which was well after she reached the age of majority and graduated from high school.<sup>30</sup> In that supplemental report, LOVE provided a list of documents she relied upon in formulating her opinion.<sup>31</sup> Although LOVE had the records and relied upon those records, they were not provided to Jeff until April 2, 2020<sup>32</sup> which was one (1) day before discovery closed on April 3, 2020, and only after Jeff filed a Motion.<sup>33</sup> Moreover, LOVE relied on medical records which were not provided to Jeff and stated in her report to the Court, "The notes in the entirety can be made available for review at the court's discretion, however it would be essential these notes not be part of any public record for the sake of Emily's privacy."<sup>34</sup>

On March 31, 2020, the Parties appeared for a telephone conference with the Court.<sup>35</sup> The telephone conference occurred because of the pending Administrative Orders regarding the COVID-19 pandemic. The telephone conference was not recorded on JAVS. One of the issues discussed during the telephone conference were the outstanding medical records relied upon by LOVE which had not been produced, and the District Court instructed Jeff's

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Appendix at Volume IX, ROA1567.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Appendix at Volume IX, ROA1569 through ROA1571.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Appendix at Volume XV, ROA2782 through ROA2783.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0637 through 0640.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Appendix at Volume XVII, ROA3025 through ROA3026.

<sup>35</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0654.

Counsel to file a Motion which was thereafter filed in this matter on April 2, 2020, at 3:52 p.m.<sup>36</sup> After the filing of the Motion, Alecia's Counsel served the medical records that same day at 3:56 p.m.; however, the records had been available since at least December 4, 2019 which was one hundred and twenty (120) days.<sup>37</sup>

The Motion was set before the Discovery Commissioner who issued a Minute Order that the "[m]atter will be forwarded to District Judge Arthur Ritchie, Jr. for a determination on how to proceed." Thereafter, the District Court Judge took no action and the COVID-19 pandemic caused additional continuances and delays due to Administrative Orders being issued by the Eighth Judicial District Court; however, discovery was never reopened.<sup>39</sup>

At the Pre-Trial conference on July 23, 2020, the issue regarding the Discovery Commissioner was addressed, and the Judge indicated that he had seen the recommendation, but would deal with it as the issue arises at Trial.<sup>40</sup> It is then pointed out that the Motion was filed and discovery cut off was April 3, 2020.<sup>41</sup> The Judge erroneous indicates that discovery was extended

<sup>36</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0655 through ROA0672.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Appendix at Volume XV, ROA2782 and ROA2783.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0691 and ROA0670.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0709 and ROA0710.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0725.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0726.

which was not the case even through Trial was continued in this matter.<sup>42</sup> There was clearly confusion about the issue regarding the delay in providing the records needed for the rebuttal witness wherein, Alecia's Counsel had those records until the day before the discovery cut-off.

NRCP § 16.2 provides some guidance regarding witness disclosures and reports; however, NRCP § 16.2 is not as specific as NRCP § 16.1 Therefore, by analogy the Court should look to NRCP § 16.1 (a)(2)(B) which provides that the expert's report must contain, again this is mandatory and not discretionary,

- (i) a complete statement of all opinions the witness will express, and the basis and reasons for them;
- (ii) the facts or data considered by the witness in forming them;
- (iii) any exhibits that will be used to summarize or support them;
- (iv) the witness's qualifications, including a list of all publications authored in the previous ten years;
- (v) a list of all other cases in which, during the previous four years, the witness testified as an expert at trial or by deposition; and
- (vi) a statement of the compensation to be paid for the study and testimony in the case.

The failure of the records being timely provided, prejudiced Jeff as he was unable to obtain a rebuttal expert witness because any rebuttal expert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0726.

would have needed to review LOVE's report and the records relied on by LOVE in formulating her expert opinions. There was a delay of one hundred and twenty (120) days from when the supplemental report was provided, and the disclosure was finally made which is against public policy. This violated Jeff's due process rights because he was not able to provide expert testimony to contradict the LOVE's testimony, which was the Court's sole basis for determining Emily's handicap.<sup>43</sup>

The purpose of discovery is to take the "surprise out of trials of cases so that all relevant facts and information pertaining to the action may be ascertained in advance of trial." *Washoe Cnty. Ed. of Sch. Trustees* v. *Pirhala*, 84 Nev. 1, 5, 435 P.2d 756, 758 (1968). Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court has ruled that providing medical records is mandatory, not discretionary. *FCH1*, *LLC*, v. *Rodriguez*, 335 P.3d 183, 189 (2014). The Supreme Court has indicated that failure to provide the entire body of medical records when an expert had the ability to review them to formulate their opinion would render the experts opinion inadmissible. *Id*.

Therefore, the Court should have granted Jeff's request for an extension of discovery and continued the matter or, alternatively, rendered LOVE's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Appendix at Volume XVII, ROA3048 and ROA3049.

testimony inadmissible. The Court abused its discretion when good cause existed to grant the requested relief pursuant to *EDCR* § 2.35.

# B. The Court erred in refusing to allow Jeff the ability to call Emily as a witness during his case in chief.

At the pre-Trial conference on July 23, 2020, Emily's testimony was discussed at length. 44 Emily was properly listed as a witness by Jeff, and there were indications at prior hearings that Jeff intended to call Emily as a witness. 45 The Court indicated that Emily was to be made available for testimony. 46 The Court then specifically asked whether Jeff intended to call Emily on his case in chief and the response was "[y]es, Your Honor." 47 Alecia's Counsel then argues that the discovery cut-off for experts was February 3, 2020; however, the records related to the rebuttal expert were not even made available until April 2, 2020. 48 It stands to reason and as a matter of public policy, a rebuttal expert cannot be retained to review reports and records unless the report and corresponding records are timely produced.

At the time of Trial, Alecia's Counsel called Emily as a witness. Jeff's Counsel then requested to call Emily on his case in chief as was indicated at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0727 through ROA0732.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0728.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0729.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0732.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Appendix at Volume IV, ROA0734.

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