Electronically Filed IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF LAP 11 2022 12:01 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court #: 82575

Jeffrey Reed,

(Appeal)

Petitioner,

District Court Case #: 05D338668

VS.

Alecia Reed nka Draper and Alicia Draper, as Conservator for Emily Reed,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

BRENNAN LAW FIRM

/s/ Elizabeth Brennan **ELIZABETH BRENNAN** Nevada Bar No. 7286 7340 Eastgate Road, Suite 170 Henderson, Nevada 89011 Phone: (702) 419-2133

Attorney for Respondent Emily Reed

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED NEVADA LAW AND PROPERLY EXERCISED HIS DISCRETION. THE JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED IN ITS ENTIRETY.

1. <u>ISSUE#1</u>: THE DISTRICT COURT DID <u>NOT</u> ERR IN <u>NOT</u> FINDING GOOD CAUSE TO EXTEND DISCOVERY, EXTEND TIME FOR REBUTTAL EXPERT AND CONTINUE THE TRIAL.

This court reviews a district court's ruling to exclude expert testimony for an abuse of discretion. *Leavitt v. Siems*, 130 Nev. 503, 509, 330 P.3d. 1, 5, (2014). Absent a showing of "palpable abuse," this court will not interfere with a district court's exercise of its discretion. *M.G. Multi-Family Dev., LLC v. Crestdale Assocs., Ltd.*, 124 Nev. 901, 912, 193 P.3d 536, 544 (2008). A palpable abuse of discretion occurs only if "no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." *Leavitt*, 130 Nev. at 509, 330 P.3d at 5.

The district court judge properly exercised his discretion in denying Jeff's Motion.

This case involves only one expert, Emily's expert and treating psychiatrist

Dr. Love. The reason for this is that Jeff NEVER identified or disclosed a

rebuttal expert witness and NEVER produced a rebuttal expert report. In

fact, Jeff never even RETAINED a Rebuttal Expert!

Long after expert deadline, on the eve of the Evidentiary Hearing, Jeff filed a motion to extend discovery, extend time for rebuttal expert, and to continue the trial. Jeff App Vol 4 ROA0655 – 0672. Emily's filed on Opposition to Jeff's Motion. Jeff App Vol 4 ROA0677 – 0690.

No good cause existed for the granting of Jeff's motion for numerous reasons, including the following:

First, the request for post-majority child support for Emily as a disabled child had been pending since 2017.

Second, Jeff Never Disclosed the **Identity** of Any Rebuttal Expert. Jeff App Vol 4 ROA0677 – 0690.

Third, in 2017, Emily disclosed the identity of her expert, Dr. Love (also known as Dr. Farrell or Dr. Love Farrell). Emily App Vol 11, RA 2459 – 2467.

Dr. Love Farrell's Initial Expert Report was provided to Jeff on August 31, 2017 (Emily App Vol 11, RA 2461) and again on July 29, 2019 (Emily App Vol 11, RA 2460, 2461 and 2462). On October 22, 2019, Jeff was provided with Dr. Love's CV. Emily App Vol 11, RA 2459 – 2467.

On December 4, 2019, Emily provided Jeff with Dr. Love Farrell's Supplemental Report. Emily App Vol 11, RA 2464.

Pursuant to NRCP 16.2(e)(3)(A) a party must disclose the <u>identity</u> of their rebuttal expert within 21 days after the disclosure made by the other party. Jeff never disclosed the identity of any rebuttal expert.

Pursuant to NRCP 16.2(e)(3)(B), a party must deliver their expert report to the opposing party within 60 days of the close of discovery. Discovery closed in this case on April 2, 2020. Jeff's Rebuttal Expert Report was due on February 3, 2020. Jeff never produced any Rebuttal Expert Report. Jeff never filed a motion seeking an extension of the rebuttal deadlines before the February 3, 3030 rebuttal expert report deadline.

Emily timely responded to all written discovery back in July of 2019. Jeff App Vol 4 ROA0677 – 0690. Jeff never filed a motion to compel or indicated that any responses were insufficient. Jeff App Vol 4 ROA0677 – 0690.

Contrary to Jeff's motion, ALL of Emily's medical records that Alecia had requested over the years and deemed necessary for this case had been provided to Jeff, as they became available. Emily's App Vol 22 RA 2459 – 2467. In fact, Jeff had Emily's medical records for treatment rendered to her while she was a minor since August 31, 2017 (Bates# PL 000001 – 000267). Emily's App Vol 22 RA 2459 – 2467. This included a Summary of Emily's Medical Treatment, with the names

of her medical providers (Bates# PL 000257 – 000267). Emily's App Vol 22 RA 2459 – 2467.

In addition, Emily had provided Jeff with two HIPPA Releases authorizing him to get Emily's medical records, <u>Trial Exhibit K</u> (valid thru 11/16/17) and <u>Trial Exhibit L</u> (valid thru 11/16/20). Emily's App Vol 11 RAS 2468 – 2471.

Dr. Love provided ALL of the documents and medical records that she reviewed in reaching her expert opinions in this case. Emily's App Vol 11 RA 2459 – 2468. See also Dr. Love's testimony. Jeff's App Vol 16 Transcript page 70 - 71. See also Jeff App Vol 4 ROA0677 – 0690.

Emily never FAILED to timely provide any documents to Jeff! As can be seen from Trial Exhibit 86, Emily provided documents as they became available and supplemented her disclosure multiple times including (1) August 31, 2017 (2) July 29, 2019 (3) October 22, 2019 (4) December 4, 2019 (5) January 31, 2020, and (6) April 2, 2020. Emily's App Vol 11 RAS 2459 – 2466.

Despite having two HIPPA Releases, Jeff NEVER requested or produced any of Emily's medical records. Jeff App Vol 4 ROA0677 – 0690. See also Jeff's testimony. Jeff's App Vol 9 Transcript page 12.

Nevada's policy in favor of resolving cases on the merits, does not permit litigants to "disregard process or procedural rules with impunity." *Lentz v. Boles*, 84 Nev. 197, 200, 438 P.2d 254, 256 – 57 (1968).

Given the foregoing, the District Court acted well within his discretion to deny Jeff's motion.

2. <u>ISSUE #2</u>: THE DISTRICT COURT DID <u>NOT</u> ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW JEFF TO RE-CALL EMILY AS A WITNESS.

The district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Mclellan vs. State*, 124 Nev. 263, 267 (Nev. 2008). "An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." *Leavitt v. Siems, 130 Nev. 503, 509, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014)*.

Absent an abuse of discretion, this court does not "reweigh evidence" on appeal. See *Wolff v. Wolff*, 112 Nev. 1355, 1359, 929 P.2d 916, 918-19 (1996).

"This court defers to a district court's findings of fact and will only disturb them if they are not supported by substantial evidence." *Klavacka v. Nelson*, 133 Nev. 164, 175, 394 P.3d 940, 949 (2017).

The District Judge did not abuse his discretion in denying Jeff's request to RE-CALL Emily a second time. Court allowed counsel for all parties question Emily during the trial. See Emily's testimony in Jeff's App Vol 15 transcript pages 85 – 114. Emily is under a conservatorship because of her disability. Trial Exhibit 21. Emily's App RA 1091 – 1094. Emily appeared thru various alters during her trial testimony that were very young in age. Jeff's App Vol 15 transcript pages 85 – 114. Any additional testimony the Court felt would be cumulative, irrelevant,

and unnecessary to his decision. Jeff's App Vol 15.

3. <u>ISSUE #3</u>: THE DISTRICT COURT DID <u>NOT</u> ERR IN ALLOWING EMILY TO RAISE CLAIMS OF POST-MAJORITY SUPPORT AFTER SHE REACHED MAJORITY.

This court reviews questions of law, such as statutory interpretation, de novo, but defers to the district court's factual findings. *Waldman v. Miani*, 124 Nev. 1121, 1136 – 1137, 195 P.3d 850 (2008). See also, *Klabacka v. Nelson*, 133 Nev. 164, 175, 394 P.3d 940, 949 (2017).

"When interpretating a statute, this court looks first to the statute's plain language and, only if it finds an ambiguity, will it look beyond the language to determine legislative intent. If the court finds an ambiguity, it looks to the statute's context to effectuate the legislative intent behind the statute." Waldman v. Miani, 124 Nev. 1121, 1136 – 1137, 195 P.3d 850 (2008).

"When interpreting a statute, we <u>focus on</u> the <u>words used</u> in the statute. See Blackburn v. State, 129 Nev 92, 95, 294 P.3d 422, 425 (2013)("Our analysis begins and ends with the statutory text if it is clear and unambiguous)" Lofthouse v. State, 136 Nev. Adv. Rep. 44, 467 P.3d 609, 611 (2020).(Emphasis supplied.)

NRS 125B.110 (Support of Child with Handicap Beyond Age of Majority) states the following:

1. A parent shall support beyond the age of majority his or her child with a handicap until the child is no longer handicapped or until the child becomes self-supporting. The handicap of the

- child must have occurred before the age of majority for this duty to apply.
- 2. For the purposes of this section, a child is self-supporting if the child receives public assistance beyond the age of majority and that assistance is sufficient to meet the child's needs.
- 3. This section does not impair or otherwise affect the eligibility of a person with a handicap to receive benefits from a source other than his or her parents.
- 4. As used in this section, "handicap" means an inability to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months.

A focus on WORDS USED the above statute reveals that the "handicap" of the child "must have occurred before the age of majority" for this duty to apply; however, there are NO WORDS anywhere in the statute that say the claim for support must be "filed" before the age of majority!

This Court has no authority to ADD words into this statute that do not exist!

The District Court correctly held that Emily can bring a claim post-majority.

The district court correctly concluded that "NRS 125B.110 authorizes a court to obligate either or both parents to support his or her handicapped child for an indefinite period, even if that child has reached the age of majority." Jeff's App Vol 3, ROA 3026.

The district court correctly stated that "NRS 125B.110 was designed for the **benefit** of the disabled adult child. The statute is designed to require parents to

bear some of the financial burden for the support of their disabled child." Jeff's App Vol 3, ROA 505. As a result, the court held that Emily **has a righ** to bring her own action for support from her parents post-majority. Jeff's App Vol 3, ROA 512.

Nothing in the statute requires bring the claim before the child reaches that age of majority. The Court's ruling is correct and should be affirmed.

4. ISSUE #4: THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN RELYING **UPON DIAGNOSIS** OF DISASSOCIATED DISORDER AFTER **EMILY** REACHED THE AGE OF MAJORITY AND GRADUATED FROM HIGH SCHOOL AS PART OF HIS **DETERMINATION THAT EMILY** IS HANDICAPPED.

"This court reviews the district court's decisions regarding **child support** for an abuse of discretion." *Rivero v. Rivero*, 125 Nev. 410, 438, 216 P.3d 213, 232 (2009). "An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." *Leavitt v. Siems, 130 Nev. 503, 509, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014)*.

"Rulings supported by substantial evidence will not be disturbed on appeal." Williams v. Williams, 120 Nev. 559, 566, 97 P.3d 1124, 1129 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). Substantial evidence is "evidence that a reasonable person may accept as adequate to sustain a judgment." Rivera, 125 Nev. at 428, 216 P.3d at 226 (quoting Ellis v. Carucci, 123 Nev. 145, 149, 161 P.3d 239, 242 (2007).

Absent an abuse of discretion, this court does not "reweigh evidence" on

appeal. See Wolff v. Wolff, 112 Nev. 1355, 1359, 929 P.2d 916, 918-19 (1996).

"This court defers to a district court's findings of fact and will only disturb them if they are not supported by substantial evidence." *Klavacka v. Nelson*, 133 Nev. 164, 175, 394 P.3d 940, 949 (2017).

NRS 125B.110(1) reads "[a] parent shall support beyond the age of majority his or her child with a handicap until the child is no longer handicapped or until the child becomes self-supporting." (Emphasis supplied).

The District Court did NOT abuse his discretion in this case.

NRS 125B.110 provides the statutory requirement for parents to support their child beyond the age of majority as long as the statutory requirements are met. The evidence presented at the Evidentiary Hearing was <u>substantial</u> and <u>overwhelmingly established</u> that all of the statutory requirements have been met. This evidence includes, but is not limited to the following:

- a) The testimony of Emily and her multiple alters/personalities;
- b) The testimony of Alecia. Emily's App Vol 1 RA 0004 Vol 2 RA 0266;
- c) The testimony of Dr. Love, who is Emily's treating psychiatrist and the only Expert Witness in this case, as well as her Expert Report, Supplemental Expert Report, and her treatment records. Emily's App Vol 1 and Jeff's App Vol 15. Trial Exhibits 13; Trial Exhibit

- 14, Trial Exhibit 15, Trial Exhibit 16, Trial Exhibit 17, Trial Exhibit 18, and Trial 19, all in Emily's App;
- d) Emily's Nevada School Records. <u>Trial Exhibit</u> 1. Emily's App Vol 2.
- e) Emily's California School Records. <u>Trial Exhibit 2</u>; Emily's App Vol 2.
- f) Emily's Social Security Records. Trial Exhibit 9, Emily's App Vol 3.
- g) Emily's Medical Records. <u>Trial Exhibit 5 and Trial Exhibit 6</u> (for treatment before age 18) as well as <u>Trial Exhibit 11</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 28</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 25</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 26</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 27</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 28</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 33</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 35</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 36</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 37</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 38</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 39</u>, <u>Trial Exhibit 40</u> as well as Dr. Love's records set forth above in subsection (c), all contained in Emily's App Vol 1 11.
- h) The letters of Conservatorship for Emily. <u>Trial Exhibit 21</u>, Emily's App Vol 5 RA 1091 1094.

It is undisputed that Emily was sexually abused as a minor for over 8 years by Defendant's roommate from 2005 until February of 2014. Alecia's Testimony, Emily's App Vol 1.

Dr. Love testified that it is her professional opinion that Emily became disabled prior to age 18 and remains disabled to this date. Dr. Love explained that Emily suffers from Major Depressive Disorder (recurrent and severe); Chronic Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (which is regularly suicidal); and Dissociative Identity Disorder (which is characterized by multiple personalities). Dr. Love explained that Emily's behavior has become so erratic and potentially dangerous that Dr. Love had to place her mom, Alecia, on FMLA leave in order to care for Emily. Dr. Love testified that it is her professional opinion that Emily has been disabled under NRS 125B.110 since before the age of majority; that Emily is handicapped under the statute; and that Emily is unable to be self-supporting. Dr. Love explained that Emily is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of her significant and chronic mental impairment, which has lasted for many years and is expected to last for a period of over 12 months. See Dr. Love's entire testimony, which is critical to this case, Emily's App Vol 1 and Jeff's App Vol 15.

Jeff failed to provide ANY rebuttal expert testimony to counter Dr. Love's opinions.

5. <u>ISSUE #5</u>: THE DISTRICT COURT DID <u>NOT</u> ERR IN DETERMINING THAT EMILY IS NOT SELF-SUPPORTING.

"This court reviews the district court's decisions regarding **child support** for an abuse of discretion." *Rivero v. Rivero*, 125 Nev. 410, 438, 216 P.3d 213, 232 (2009).

Absent an abuse of discretion, this court does not "reweigh evidence" on appeal. See *Wolff v. Wolff*, 112 Nev. 1355, 1359, 929 P.2d 916, 918-19 (1996).

"This court defers to a district court's findings of fact and will only disturb them if they are not supported by substantial evidence." *Klavacka v. Nelson*, 133 Nev. 164, 175, 394 P.3d 940, 949 (2017).

The District Judge did NOT abuse his discretion.

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